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1. Name of Property

historic name North Main Street Historic District
other names/site number

JAN 2 3 1999

2. Location

street & number N, Main St.: W side 500 block: E & W sides 600 & 700 L _lnot for publication
city, town Henderson blocks L_| vicinity
state Kentucky code  KY county Henderson code 101 zip code 42420
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
Xl private [ building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
[:] public-local district 37 12 _ buildings
] public-State [ site sites
[] public-Federal [Istructure 3 1 structures
[ object objects
40 13 ___ Total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources prevuously
N/A listed in the National Register __Q

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
- nomination L—j request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the .
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opnmo‘hﬁhe)p'r;perty Xl %ldo meet the National Register criteria. [:]See continuation sheet

Signature of ¢efifying official David L. Mofgan Date
State Historic Preservation Officer, Kefitucky Heritage Council
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property D meets L__]does not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hegaby, certify that this property is:

entered in the National Register. W 74 M / / :

E)See continuation sheet. n 3 / 7 C]@ :
[:]determinad eligible for the National / ‘

Register. [:l See continuation sheet.

El determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[Jremoved from the National Register.
[Jother, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action




6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC/single dwelling

7. Description

Architectural Classification

Materials (enter categories from instructions)
{enter categories from instructions)

foundation __brick

_Italianate walls brick

_Queen Anne weatherboard
Other: Folk Victorian roof asphalt
Bungalow/Craftsman other wood

stone

Describe present and historic physical appearance. .

The North Main Street Historic District is located two blocks north of Henderson,
Kentucky's central business district and one block east of the Ohio River. With a
population of approximately 24,000, Henderson is one of the five largest cities in
western Kentucky and is the county seat of Henderson County, which is situated in the
northern tier of the 38 counties comprising the Pennyrile region. Henderson affords
a clear vista across the Ohio River to rural Indiana as one of western Kentucky's few
urban areas directly on the river that does not require a flood wall due to its high
banks. The southern outskirts of Evansville, Indiana are five miles mnorth of
Henderson and Louisville, also on the Ohio and Kentucky's largest city, is 150 miles
east.

The North Main Street Historic District encompasses approximately two—and-one-half
city blocks which are the oldest and most intact portion of a residential neighbor-
hood that originated in the second quarter of the nineteenth century and experienced
development into the 1970s. The district includes 33 houses, 16 garages and other
subsidiary buildings in rear yards (most of them on alleys and not visible from the
street), and four structures (three iron fences and one swimming pool). Twenty-six
(or almost 79 percent) of the primary resources contribute to the area's historic
character, while seven are non-contributing due to alterations or post-1941 construc-
tion dates. The district's historic architecture is an approximately even mixture
of vernacular or popular dwellings and very stylish residences which include some of
Henderson's outstanding examples of the Italianate, Queen Anne and neoclassically
inspired revival styles. Fourteen of the houses are of brick construction; the
remainder are frame, of which six are brick-veneered, plus single examples of tile
and cinder block.

A1l of the district's properties front the 500 through 700 blocks of N. Main St.,
between Fifth and Eighth Streets, which is part of the grid pattern of streets
characterizing pre-World War II Henderson. Historic houses line both sides of the
600 and 700 blocks but only the west side of the 500 block as the east side consists
of new and altered properties. In addition to the distinctive architecture, careful-
ly maintained yards and buildings as well as surrounding areas help define the
district. East of the district, the terrain slopes sharply downward to Merritt Dr.
and the banks of the Ohio River where land use is a mix of industrial and modest
residential. Houses, many of the early but altered, 1line busy N. Elm St. to the
west. North of the district, predominantly post-World War II houses line the east
side of N. Main St., facing early but altered houses on the west, while to the south
a railroad trestle and two residential blocks that have been largely altered in the
course of adaptive reuse as offices serve as a transition to the downtown commercial

area. Much of the central business district and two sizable portions of early
See continuation sheet



8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
[Cnationally [ statewide locally

Applicable National Register Criteria [XA [ 1B [dc []D

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ 18 [Jc [o [Je [JF [ea

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Architecture c. 1860 - 1939 c. 1860
Other: Socio-economic Development 1867

Cultural Affiliation

N/A
Significant Person T aes e o Architect/Builder -
N/A i J. Clore and Son (2?), builder

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

SUMMARY

The North Main Street Historic District is important in the history of Henderson,
Kentucky as the relatively intact core of a residential neighborhood which represents
the city's socio-economic development from the end of the antebellum period  through
the eve of World War II. Henderson's economy, based prior to the Civil War upon a
thriving tobacco industry, recovered fairly quickly during the post-bellum period.
Augmented by the completion of major rail lines in the late 1860s, 1870s and 1880s,
post-war expansion of the tobacco industry and other manufacturing enterprises
including distilling, building supplies and textiles contributed to population growth
and prosperity manifested in the development of fashionable neighborhoods. The North
Main Street Historic District encompasses two-and-one-half city blocks containing
several of Henderson's most impressive "high-style" houses and popular renditions of
certain modes, including examples of the Italianate, Queen Anne and neoclassically
inspired revival styles as well as eclectically embellished basic house types and
bungalows. Despite the 1loss of virtually all of the city's early industrial
buildings, this residential district of 33 resources erected primarily between c.
1860 and 1939 for Henderson's industrial, commercial and professional leaders, their

upper—level personnel and various tradesmen and artisans continues to reflect a
significant period of local history.

[X] see continuation sheet



9. Major Bibliographical References

Previous documentation on file (NPS): N/A

l:lpreliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67)
has been requested

["Ipreviously listed in the National Register

[:] previously determined eligible by the National Register

[ ldesignated a National Historic Landmark

[ Jrecorded by Historic American Buildings
Survey #

I:lrecorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

[X] see continuation sheet

Primary location of additional data:
[X] state historic preservation office
[ ]Other State agency
[:] Federal agency
[]Local government
[ JUniversity
[]other
Specify repository:
Kentucky Heritage Council

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of property _approximately 12.5 acres

UTM References

lal 4181210 [4.118,90000]

Zone Easting Northing

Ccluel lalaigl2310 (410890500

BL_1_1_6J L4148 460 418 9090

Zone Easting Northing
DlL6 (448090 | 4189440

[ see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the North Main Street Historic District follow

legal property lines with two exceptions (subdivisions of the parcels containing entries

1 and 12 in order to exclude post-WWII residences on the southern portions of their lots),
as shown by the bold line on the accompanying map which is a composite of photocopied
portions (reduced to a scale of 1-3/16" = 100') of sheets 8, 9, 17 and 18 of Henderson,

Kentucky Property Map HI.

its nejghborhood and surrounding town.

This map should be compared to the accompanying parcel overlay
for aerial photos and USGS map in order to referen

See continuation sheet the district to

Boundary Justification

The boundaries of the North Main Street Historic District are drawn to include the greatest
concentration of intact historic resources constituting the residential neighborhood that
began to develop in the second quarter of the nineteenth century north of Henderson's
central business district. The areas immediately beyond the boundaries are either
predominantly modern, or historic but substantially altered.

See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle __Claudia R, Brown

organization __J\.ILA___lndgp_enderm_mnsnlLam:_________ date

street & number ___309 Calvin Road

September 1989
telephone __919/828-8403

city or town Raleigh

state ___NC zip code _27605 __
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residential neighborhoods south and southeast of the CBD have been identified as
eligible for National Register listing and nominations are being prepared for those
three districts. In addition, four individual buildings already have been listed in
the Register: the Barret House, 1977; 8t. Paul’'s Episcopal Church, 1978; Henderson L
¥ N Depot, 1980; and the John E. McCallister House, 1982.

Although N. Main St. is a fairly broad avenue and the central business district is
nearby, traffic in the North Main Street Historic District is wminimized by the
street’'s termination at Twelfth St. A mature canopy of tall hardwoods in the
grassy right-of-way serves as an effective buffer for most of the houses, which are
fronted by concrete sidewalks stamped at street corpers with the dates of construc-
tion and paving contractors’' names. Al of the properties are landscaped with mature
foundation plantings and most of the yards also have manicured lawns shaded by tall
trees and accented by smaller flowering trees and shrubs. Individual parcels are
primarily narrow rectangles extending approximately half the depth of the block with
small +front vards slightly elevated from the fairly even grade of the street and
service alleys at the rear of deep back yards. Prominent exceptions are the east
side of the 400 block, which contains spacious lots for four very large houses,
including one sited on a raised terrace, and the west side of the 700 block which has
only five houses in large elevated lots heavily wooded in side and rear yards, three
of which block extend the full depth of the block to overlook the river. Sethacks
vary considerably in the latter block, but elsewhere they are fairly consistent,
especially in the east side of the 700 block where they are nearly uniform due to
development within a relatively brief period.

The two oldest houses in the North Main Street Historic District date from the late
antebellum period. The Allin-Taylor House (entry 30) originated as a small vernacu-
lar 6Greek Revival style building sometime between 18353 and 1862, when its second
owner bought it. The one-story house was built on a full basement which appears as a
complete story on the main facade in order to conform to the steep upward slope of
the sitey the main entrance was in the north gable end and reached by a tall +flight
of stairs. Today, however, the house resembles a vernacular late Bueen Anne style
dwelling due to the 1904 addition on the north elevation of a cross-gable wing with a
three-sided main facade. {It also has acgquired a resemblance to Gulf Coast houses
since the latticework concealing the basement has been removed and the main entrance
moved to the lower level.) In contrast, the c. 1840 Smith-Katterijohn House (entry
14) is intact on the exterior except for a classical revival entrance with sidelights
and flat-roofed entrance porch with box posts probably installed around 1900, This
twog-stary brick house may be termed "transitional,” incorporating a low-pitched
hipped roof, molded cornice, flat bracketed frieze, and segmental-arched side and
rear window openings which signal the emerging Italianate style with prominent +flat
stone lintels at the main facade windows which allude to the waning Breek Revival.

The district’s six full-bplown Italianate houses are among the area’s nmost visually
distinctive resources. The earliest, as well as the largest, of this group are the
Talbott-S8tites-Royster House f{entry 3) and the Nunn-WcClain-Clay House (entry 4)
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built in 1867 on adjoining spacious lots, Both houses are brick and slightly L-
shaped with the characteristic almost flat hipped roof, deep bracketed eaves, and
tall and narrow segmental- and round-arched windows, Both have their own, indivi-
dualizing features: at the two-story Talbott-Stites-Royster House, a sguare tower
rises as a third story above the central entrance bay and the front porch is extreme-
ly ornate with Mporish-looking slender columns and intricately sawn spandrels and
frieze;y next door, small round-arched attic windows and prominent stone hood molds
with acanthus keystones distinguish the two-and-one-half-story Nunn-McClain-Clay
House. The brick Newcomb House built c¢. 1B70, the only one-story ltalianate in the
district, exhibits an immense entrance surround that rises the full height of the
facade with heavy scroll brackets supporting a boldly projecting entablature. The
surround is centered on the five-bay facade of a simple rectangular, gable-roofed
form that is otherwise typical of the style in its very tall windows, bracketed
cornice, and porch supported by molded and chamfered posts with cutwork spandrels at
the middle three bays. Like the Nunn-McClain-Clay House at the opposite corner of N.
Hain and Seventh, the Newcomb House is well screened, vyet more secluded due to its
deep setback and elevated lot. Smaller and less elaborate than the f{foregoing
examples, the two-story brick houses at 509 (entry 135} and 521 (entry 18) N. Main 5t.
are akin to townhouses in their almost cubical massing, wide projecting bracketed
cornices which conceal the roofs, and placement of the entrance in an end bay. The
L~shaped, two-story Rankin House (enfry 2) is a frame structure that has been altered
with brick veneer and splayed stone lintels, vyet these materials are not inappro-
priate to the house’s original Italianate styling which remains clearly evident in
its bracketed cornice, tall and narrow windows, polygonal window bay and entrance
porches with chamfered posts molded at top and bottonm.

Characterized by varied, irregular and asymmetrical rooflines and massing, and
usually by an assortment of materials and textures as well, G@Gueen Anne style houses
enliven many late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century streetscapes. The five
flueen Anne style houses in the North Main Street Historic District span the period
1874 to the turn of the century and range from modest picturesque frame cottages to
expansive, robust designs,. Built in 1874, the Eisfelder-McClellan House {entry 32)
is an early and conservative rendition of the style in its construction and decora-
tion exclusively of wood, its form of & hip-roofed core with offset gabled wings, and
a fairly restrained decorative program limited to the gables and front porch. The
front gabled wing contains scallopped shingles in the gable and a two-story three-
sided bay panelled and bracketed at the top, while the entrance porch also is
bracketed with an unusual pierced sawnwork frieze edged in delicate drop pendants,
The apex of the style is epitomized by the immense two-and-one-half-story brick
William Soaper House f{entry 1) built in the late 1880s, Here, irregularity and
variety reign, with multiple projections ranging from polygonal bays to an octagonal
corner tower, imbrecated shingles at the gables, ashlar at string courses, lintels
and sills, and rich millwork at several porches. Corner towers, in this case rounded
and in different heights and girths, also characterize the two-and-one-half-story
brick Blackwell House (entry 19), which also is further embellished with rusticated
ashlar, contrasting textures and patterns of brickwork, and terra cotta panels. The
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district’'s two more modest Bueen Anne houses both date from around 1900, The frame
house at §13 N. Main 5t. (entry 16} is most interesting for its two-story form with a
gabled roof flared on the front slope which sweeps downward on the north end te
engage the front porch next to a large two-story polygonal tower defining the south
end of the main facade. The one-and-one-half-story brick 8Stephan House (entry &)
features the popular tall hip-roofed block with offset gables, a shingled front gable
above a three-sided bay, an eyebrow dormer, a bracketed cornice and heavy turned
posts at the front porch, and a square corner tower with pyramidal roof,

The largest single group of houses in the North Main Street Historic District
comprise ten folk Victorian dwellings built in the west side of the 600 block and the
past side of the 700 block between the early 18B0s to around 1910. Straightforward in
both their forms and decoration, these basic, or folk, house types consist of either
intersecting gable-roofed units creating a T- or L-shape or a tall hip-roofed block
with lower offset gabled wings. They are embellished primarily at porches and gables
with popular standard millwork influenced by contemporary high-style architecture -~
turned, sawn and chamfered during the late nineteenth century and increasingly more
neoclassical as the Colonial Revival style gained popularity after 1900, All of the
folk Victorians in the district are of frame constructiaon and range in height froa
gne to one-and-one-half to two stories. The one-story T-shaped Reutlinger House
{entry 11} built in the early 1880s is one of the oldest and aost ornate, with
bracketed molded crowns at the front windows, & porch of chamfered posts, sawn fan
spandrels and frieze of circles, and distinctive ornamental bracing in the f{front
gable reminiscent of Carpenter |[Bothic architecture. Two other contemporary T-shaped
houses side-by-side at 417 {entry 24) and 623 lentry 25) N. Main 85t. feature three-
sided window bays in the front |gables, while the more intact of a c. 1890 pair at 710
tentry 7) and 714 {entry 8) N. Main retains molded crowns at tall windows and a
transomed main entrance. The |two-story L-shaped Rutsch House (entry 27) of c. 1890
is one of the district’'s most |decorative folk Victorians with its ornate molded and
bracketed window crowns, patterned shingles in the gables, and slender chamfered
posts, continuous sawn spandrels linked by drop pendants and a bracketed cornice at
the porch. 0f the two neighboring one-and-one-half-story hipped and gabled examples
Built around 1910, the more elaborate house at 716 N. Main 6&t. f{entry 9) has
Palladian windows in the front gable and dormer and Tuscan columns on brick plinths
at the front porch,

Neoclassically inspired styling (including the two latest folk Victorians) and the
bungalow mode constitute the district’s historic twentieth-century architecture. The
parliest neoclassically inspired houses include two late Victorians incorporating
certain features identified |with the waning Queen Anne style and neoclassical
elements which dominate a design best termed Neo-Colonial. For example, the 1901
Jarvis House f{entry 17) has vertical applied timbers in the front pediment, tall
corbelled chimney stacks and a%secand—story, three-sided window bay, yet the bhalanced

treatment of the overall two-story brick form and main facade, cross-gable roafline
with pediment across the front and Corinthian porch columns identify the house as a
Neo-Colonial. By the mid 1920s, the neoclassically inspired revival styles had lost
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all traces of non-classical eclecticism as represented by the Worsham House (entry
33}, a self-contained, symmetrical blocky form brick-veneered in Flemish bond which
recalls Italian Renaissance houses in its Ionic porch elements and tall parapet lined
with turned balusters which conceals an almost flat roof. 0+ the district’s two
bungalows, the c¢. 1914 Mayer House {entry 12) exemplifies one of the most typical
bungalow designs in its cne-and-one-half-story side-gabled form, large front dormer,
triangle brackets and recessed front porch, while the contemporary one-story bungalow
at 734 N. Main 8t. (enetry 13) in a simple rectangular configuration with a low-
pitched hipped vroof is notable as an early example of the use of cinder block for
residential construction: The brick-veneered King House (entry 1) is a Colonial
Revival-bungalow hybrid in its self-contained two-story form and symmetrical fenes-
tration, eave brackets at the gable-end roof, and porch with heavy brick piers and
slightly arched entablature.

The most prevalent alterations in the district are applications of synthetic siding
and replacement porches, which predominate among the folk Victorian houses., Of the
seven re-sided houses, four continue to contribute to the district’s historic charac-
ter due to the preservation of original or early trim and applied ornament. The
three non-contributing houses with synthetic siding also have modern replacement
parches. Three houses feature early Tuscan-coluamned replacement paorches or 1920s
"bungalow porches" with tapered or straight or box posts on brick plinths which are
not intrusive as they reflect historic architectural trends,

Of the district’'s four post-1941 houses, three are very simiiar early 1940s Colonial
Revival style dwellings situated in & row on the former site of an 1B70s house, All
three are veneered in red brick and are two stories with gable-end roofs, symmetrical
three-bay main facades, and reserved neoclassical detailing at the entrances. The
fourth intrusion is a 1970s Tudor Revival style house. ’

Most of the district’'s putbuildings, of which approximately two-thirds pre-date 1942,
are garages of frame, brick or cinder block construction. In addition, there is a c.
1939 garden house behind the Blackwell House (entry (9] which exhibits a distinctive
oriental design incorporating an open lattice frieze and a two~tiered roof hipped
with euposed rafter ends at the lower level and hipped and bellcast at the smaller
upper level. The o©ldest putbuilding iwn the district is a narrow two-story brick
house behind the «c. 1870 HNunn-McClain-Clay House (entry 4) with which it is
cantemporary. This building, probably intended as servants guarters, is hip-roofed
and has segmental-arched windows.
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INVENTORY LIST

Historical background on the following properties has been gleaned prisarily through the study of Sanborn Map
Company insurance maps of Henderson (issued in 1883, 1892, 1897, 1901, 1904, 1913, 1923 and 1931}, city directories
lfor the years 1893, 1899, 1909, 1913 and 1927), the 1BBO 1llustrated Atlas of Henderson and Union Counties and
addition, 0O1d Henderson Houses (cited as DHH in the entries) served as a major source for the seven properties in
the district for which the 1983 book has an entry, and certain information was taken from the 1887 History of
Henderson County, Kentucky by Edeund Starling, Maralea Arnett’s 1974 The Annals and Scandals of Kendersop County,
KY., and printed flyers and notes for recent house tours. It is generally recognized that certain of these
references such as the directories and Starling are not infallable; consequently, deductive reasoning based upon
analysis of several sources often determined the presentation of dates and names.

Typically, a property is named with reference to its earliest known occupant, often based upon a city directory
listing which, whenever possible, has been checked against other sources, Whether or not that person had the
building constructed or was a later owner cannot be determined on the basis of city directories as early direc-
tories do not indicate if the occupant is an owner or renter. Time constraints, lack of street indices in the
earliest city directories and absence of certain directories fros the Henderson Public Library collection were
tactars in the selection of the annual directories consulted. Absence of any names usually indicates that the
directories reflected a high turnover rate, suggesting that the property was rental,

The ages of sany of the outbuildings was determined on the basis of the Sanborn insurance saps. Certain subsidiary
buildings, however, do not appear on the most recent, 1931 series of eaps. In these instances, the building’s
approximate date of construction has been estimated on the basis of design and materials.

At the end of each entry, the resource is cited as contributing (C) or non-contributing (NC) to the historic
character of the district.

1, William Soaper House. 612 N, Main 5t. Prosinent tobacco buyer William Soaper had this two-and-one-halé~-story
brick house constructed in {BB7-90 upon his marriage to Antonia Hodge. The large house, expanded on the rear
with a long two-story ell, epitomizes the Gueen Anne style in its irregular form and variety of materials and
rooflines. Brick predominates on the exterior, but imbrecated shingles cover the gables and ashlar appears as
stringcourses incorporating lintels and sills.  The numerous projections from the tall, hip-roofed central
block include gabled wings with polygonal bays and an octagonal south front cormer tower juxtaposed to a
rectangular bay projecting at an angle from the north front corner. Contrasts also characterize the rich
sillwork of several first- and second-story porches: continuous cutwork spandrels create arcades at both
levels, but the unusual fan-like sunburst panels in the lower wraparound railing contrast to the sharp angles
of the basketweave pattern of the balustrades above. The well-preserved house has been refurbished recently.
i)

Fence -- Original iron fence of alternating short and tall spears along the front and south sides of the
property. (G}

Swimaing Pool (ND)
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2. Rankin House. 616 N. Main St. A very low-pitched hipped roof, tall two-over-two double-hung sash windows,
bracketed cornices, vents in the frieze board, and chamfered porch posts eolded at top and bottom are charac-
teristic of the Italianate style and reflect the early 1880s construction date for this L-shaped house. The
two-story building also features interior end chisneys, one- and two-story rear ells; a polygonal bay at the
lower level of the front wing, and an entrance porch in the tront angle of the L sheltering a tall and slightly
recessed door and transom. The house apparently was built for Mrs. Fannie 6. Rankin, widow of James Ed Rankin,
prosperaus Henderson merchant amurdered in 18464 by outlaws. Rankin had acquired extensive real estate,
including the southern half of this block purchased in 1838. The 1880 Henderson atlas reveals that the house
was built after 1880; the 1893 city directory lists Wrs. Rankin at this address, and she occupied the house
into the 1930s, The property remained in the Rankin family until the death of Miss #Ann Rankin in 1935,
Although the Glover family, who awned the house fros 1957 until 19653, had the frame structure brick veneered
and splayed stone lintels with keystones installed, the house continues to contribute to the historic street-
scape due to retention of all other ariginal exterior features. The interior retains original woodworking and
teiling medallions as well as five iron fireplaces and cherry inlaid floors dating from a circa 1910 renova-
tion. {(C)

Fence -- Original iron fence of alternating tall and short spears across the front edge of the property. (0)
Barage -- One-story gable-front, weatherboarded frame structure apparently built prior to 1940. (C)

3. Talbott-Stites-Royster Howse. 626 N. Main St. MWhen f. H. Talbott had this house erected in 1867, its
Italianate styling was the height of fashion for Henderson architecture. Siting on a low terrace and a three-
story tower encompassing the entrance bay augment the imposing quality of the large two-story fors constructed
of brick. The low-pitched hipped roof, segsental- and round-arched windows with brick hood molds, bracketed
carnice with panelled frieze bearing attic vents, and tall interior end chisneys with corbelled stacks are
salient Italianate features. The porch across the enirance and south double window bays is especially distinc-
tive ip its Moorish-looking slender columns and unusually intricate and delicate spandrels and frieze, all of
wood. The plainer two-story brick wing with a rear one-story addition extending fros the northeast corner of
the main block may be an early addition. Sometime in the 1870s, tobacconist G. I. Beatty purchased the house;
subsequent owners included John Gilmore of Owensboro, KY, Dhio Valley Banking & Trust cashier William H. Stites
from the 18905 to the late 1910s, followed by insurance agent X. R. Royster for several decades. (C)

Garage -- one-story gable-front, weatherboarded building erected prior to 1940, (C)

4. Nunn-McClain-Clay House. 438 M. Main 5t. Due tp the tall hardwoods and other dense foliage surrounding this
house, it is only during the cold months that the impressive size, detailing and preservation of this solid
brick house is readily apparent., The two-and-one-half-story Italianate dwelling is notable for its tall attic
sarked by short round-arched windows, tall segmental- and round-arched windows adorned with prosinent hoodaolds
at the first and second stories, respectively, the heavy turned posts with sawn spandrels at the front porch,
and the elaborate frontispiece at the entrance with pairs of outer and inner doors. In addition, there are
one-stary polygonal bays on each side elevation and a two-stery rear wing. Deeds reveal that A. Shelby Nunn
bought this "portion of in lot 4B" from A. H. Talbott for $2,000 in 1866 and in 1B71 sold the property “with
the houses and isprovesents therson situated” to Col. Jackson NcClain for $14,000; Starling cites the building
date as 1868, HcClain operated a large Henderson County fara and was prominent in local banking and railroad
interests in addition to building a distillery in 1872, The house was sold at auction for settlement of
HcClain's estate in 1898 to Wrs, Bessie E. Clay, whose hushand, James F. Clay, was a distinguished attorney,
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state senator {one term, elected 1871) and congressean (one term, elected 1882). The house remained in the
Clay family until 1968, (C)

214_ Seventh St. -- Narrow two-story, low-pitched hip-roofed brick house which appears to be contemporary with
the main house, to which it has been attached by an enclosed one-story, elevated frame passage. The house,
perhaps originally intended for servants, has seqmental-arched windows and small one-story brick wings on the

front and east elevations., (C)

Fence -- Iron fence of alternating short and tall spears on a concrete curb along the front and north edges of
the property, probably contemporary with the house. [The large, squat piers with enorsous finials, all of cast
cancrete, marking the end of the fence on Seventh 5t. and scattered across the side yard were moved to the
property around 1970 from the old fire barn (destroyed) near Central Park.l (D)

Barage -- Large modern, one-story gable-front frase building. (NC)

3. 700_N. HMain 8t. This one-and-one-half-story house represents a popular late Victorian house type in its foras
of a2 hip-roofed smain block with lower offset gabled wings. It was built around 1890 and originally was
weatherboarded. Extensive aodern alterations include the addition of brick veneer and shed-roofed darmers,
installation of a large picture window in the front gabled wing and rebuilding and screening the front parch.
The earliest known occupant was W, ®. Blackwell who lived here in the late 1890s, followed by insurance agent
W, H. Weaver from the early 1900s to around 1920, {(NC)

6. Stephan House, 704 N. Main 5t., Sanborn Insurance Maps indicate that this one-and-one-half-story brick house
was built around 1900, perhaps for bookkeeper Henry A. Stephan who is recorded in city directories as living
here during the late 19005 and 1910s. The well preserved house is a good example of a sodestly-scaled inter-
gretation of the Queen Anne style in its distinctive features and decorative program. Typical of the period in
its tall hipped roof and lower gabled wings, the house is distinguished by a low square tower with tall
pyramidal roof at the south end of the main facade; at the other end of the main facade there is a gabled wing
with heavy scroll spandrels above clipped corners at the first story and scallopped shingles and a Palladian
window motif that is pointed- rather than round-arched in the gable. An eyebrow dorser with latticework
muntins accents the front plane of the hipped roof. The front porch has a bracketed cornice and turned posts
on block-like plinths. (£)

7. 710 N, HMain 5t, Originally almost identiral to the house immediately to the north, this and its neighbor
likely were constructed as speculative ventures, probably around 1890. The one-story T-shaped frase house with
cross-gable roof retains its original corbelled chimney stacks, but has been altered with modern metal porch
gosts and spandrels in a foliate design, partial enclosure of the front porch, and a large tripartite window in
the front gabled wing. An early accupant of the house was Mrs. Jessie C. Dade, who lived here from around 1900
to the late 1920s and perhaps later. (NC) :

Barage -- Altered one-story fraee garage of indeterminate age. (NC)

8. 714 N, HMain 5t. Unlike its neighbor immediately to the south, which formerly was very similar to this house,
714 N. Hain 5t. has been well preserved, featuring tall two-over-two windows with crown lintels and its
original weatherboards. The house was built around {710; the porch which filled the recess created by the twe
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front wings was enlarged sometime between 1913 and 1923 to extend across the entire main facade with box posts
molded at top and bottom on brick plinths and a matchstick railing. The succession of numerous occupants
listed in the city directories sugoests that the house was rental property in its early years. (C)

Barage -- One-story hip-roofed frame garage built around 1910, (L)

9. 716 N, Main §t. This well preserved one-and-ane-hali-story weatherboarded house built around 1910 is charac-
terized by Palladian windows in the gable of the front wing and the gable-roofed front dormer. Typical of its
period in its fore of a tall hip-roofed main block with shorter gable-roofed wings, the house also features
tall two-over-two windows, a transom above the front door, and a matchstick railing and Tuscan coluans on brick

plinths at the front porch. One of the two original tall chimney stacks has been reaoved. ({C)

10. 724 N, Main 8t. This plainer version of 714 N. Main 5t. also dates to around 1910 and probably was paired with
its neighbor as a speculative venture, Virtually identical in form and materials to 714 N. Main, this house is
identified by its small round-arched windows in the front gables, Tuscan columns as its only distinguishing
porch elements, and the absence of transoms at the entrance and the first-floor window in the front wing. The
house is well preserved and retains both of its tall corbelled chianey stacks. (0)

1. Reutlinger House. 728 N. Main St. According to O1d Henderson Homses and Buildings published in 1985, the first
knawn record of this frame house, dated 1389, listed its owner as Mary Reutlinger, who is assumed to be related
te the Reutlingers who were partners in Reutlinger and Eisfelder Brewery formerly located nearby at the south-
east corner of N. Main and Eighth Streets, The house was built in the early 1880s, perhaps by the brewery
{which then owned the northwest quadrant of the block) for a high-level employee; the 1893 city directory
lists brewmaster Rudolph Dietrichkeit at this address. Deeds and city directories suggest that the house
remained rental property for much of the first half of this century. The well preserved one-story, T-shaped
house has a cross gable roof and is weatherboarded. Bracketed crowns appear at the front windows and the seall
entrance porch in the front recess has chamfered posts, cutwork fan spandrels, and a frieze of circles, all
standard millwork of the period. The most distinctive feature is the front gable adorned by ornasental bracing
with a trefoil and drop pendants and quatrefoils at the ends of the raking boards which recall the Carpenter
Bothic style popular during the 1840c and 1870s. (L)

farage -- One-story, gable-front building with asbestos shingle sheathing and criginal sliding wooden doors
across a single bay, built prior to {935, (D)

12, Mayer House. 730 M. Main 5t. Alex Mayer, proprietor of Sam B. Mayer & Sons clothing and dry qoods stores, had
this one-and-one-half-story, gable-roofed bungalow constructed for his family around 1914,  Although the
weatherboards have been covered with aluminum siding, all other original salient {features resain intact,
including the triangle brackets in the gables eaves of the main block and large front dorser, large brick piers
at the recessed porch across the north half of the main facade, and polygonal window bay on the south
elevation, (0}

13, 734 _N. Main Gt. This simple one-story house is notable as an early exasple of the use of cinder block for
residential construction. Built in the early 1910s, it has a simple rectangular form with a low-pitched hipped
roof and recessed full-facade front porch which case to be identified with one-stary bungalows. The rough-
faced ashlar veneer is original or an early addition. ([}
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{4. Smith-Katterjohn_ House. 503 N. Main Gt. The low-pitched hipped roof with bracketed cornice signals the
Italianate style, while the prominent flat stone lintels on the main facade allude to the Breek Revival and
thus indicate that this brick house is "transitional,” melding elesents of a waning style with one that was
gaining popularity. Stylistically, the house appears to date to the late 1B30s or early 1BA0s. There is local
speculation that the house was built prior to 1859 by either James and Sallie Rouse or Paul and Sallie Semonin,
successive owners of the property who also were partners in the 1856 construction of the steasboat “Governor
Powell" which brought severe financial problems in 1859, Tobacconist Stephen Phillip Smith bought the house in
1868 and passed it to his daughter, Jesephine Seith Katterjohn, who lived here until her death in 1957, The
tront two-story block is one room deep in a side passage plan with an original one-story rear brick ell that
has been enlarged with a frame second story and small one-story frame and brick additions. Except for the main
tacade, all original windows are segmental arched. The classical revival entrance with sidelights and a flat-
roofed porch with box posts may have been installed after an 1894 fire. (L)

13. 509 N, Main 8t. In its fors, plan and roofline, this stuccoed brick house resembles its c. 1860 neighbor to
the south, but its segmental-arched windows throughout, many with sisple brick hood solds, indicate it is of
later, pre-1880 vintage. The Italianate house has a two-story, one-room~deep frant black with side-passage
plan, two one-story rear ells {one brick, the other weatherboarded), and a low-pitched hipped roof with
bracketed cornice. A bracketed, hip-roofed hood added in the 20th century shelters the recessed entrance with
sidelights. The earliest known occupant of the house was tobacconist Branch A. Blackwell, who lived here from
at least 1893 until around 1920, Whart master William Shelby is listed at this address in the late 1920s city
directories, (C)

16, G13 N. Main 8t, A builder’'s guide probably provided the design for this two-story Queen Anne style frase house
built sometime between 1897 and 1901, From the street, the house appears to be only one-and-one-half stories
due to a tall gabled roof without doraers on the north end that flares to engage the front porch and a
polygonal tower defining the second story on the south end. A stained glass lunette appears next to the front
door. Despite aluminue siding, the house retains its salient features. The 1919 city directory lists N. K.
Tay, & Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. superintendent at this address, and the 1927 directory lists Mrs. Mary
S, Dunp. (C)

17, Jarvis House, 517 N. Main St. The balanced, regularized treatment of the overall fors and main facade, cross-
gable roofline with full pediment across the front, and Corinthian columns at the two-thirds front porch
identify the Neo-Colonial styling of this late Victorian yellow brick house built in 1901, Additional classi-
tal features include the prominent molded frieze, flat piers at the corners and center of the main elevation,
and amodillioned cornice of the pediment. In contrast, the vertical applied timbers in the pediment, tall
corbelled chimney stacks, and three-sided window bay at the second story harken back to the Gueen Anne style,
The two-story house was built for Minnie and Arthur Jarvis, who had the Jarvis Tobacco Factory at the corner of

Third and Water Streets built in 190A, The Jarvis family owned the house until 1954, (C)
Barage - One-story gable-front building covered with weatherboards, built prior to 1942. (C)
18. 521 M. Main St. According to Sanborn Insurance Maps and stylistic features, this two-story brick house dates

to the late 1B80s. The Italianate house has an almost flat hipped roof, bracketed cornice with vented frieze,
and tall one-over-one double-hung sash windows with flat stone lintels and sills. The sain facade is somewhat
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irregular with recessed bay at the south end containing the entrance and the middle of the three northern hays
in a shallow two-story, rectangular projection. The one-story bellcast deck entrance porch has been altered
with modern foliate iron supports, (0) :

19, Blackwell House, 525 N. Main St. This two-and-one-half-story brick house exesplifies the Bueen Anne style in
its varied and irregular form, roofline, surfaces and materials. The house consists of a tall hip-roofed core
from which slightly shorter gable-roofed wings ending in two-story polygonal bays project on the side eleva-
tions. The most distinctive elements appear on the main facade where a round three-story tower marks each
carner and the central bay features a convex wooden porch with turned posts and sawn spandrels at the +first
story and a gabled wall dormer at the attic, Although the towers vary in their circusferences and conical roof
heights, they are. identical in their detailing with includes secand-story stone stringcourses and bands of
brick torbelling above the second and third stories. Variety in surface textures also appears throughout in
the rough-faced stone lintels, sills and foundation, prominent roof cresting and finials, rusticated ashlar
covering the front parapetted gable, and terra cotta panels with foliate reliefs in the upper facades of the
entrance bay.  Much of the interior, including the ornate oak woodwork in the entry hall, resains intact. The
house was built sosetime between 1892 and 1897, when it first appears on the Sanborn insurance maps, by a
member ot the Blackwell family -- either Paul Alexander Blackwell (horn 1824}, co-founder of the wholesale
hardware business P.A. Blackwell & Co., or his son William . Rlackwell, listed at this address in the 1909 and
1915 city directories. There have been several owners since the 1920s, (L)

Barden House -- This one-story rectangular wooden building near the rear property line is unusual in. its

Driental design. Above an open lattice frieze, there is a hipped roof with exposed rafter ends, which in turn
is topped by a smaller bellcast hip roof sisilar to a ventilator. The building dates to around 1939. (L)

20, 537 K. Main 8. The primary intrusion in the district is this one-and-one-half-story traee house in the Tudor
Revival style built in the 19705, The property foraerly was occupied by 2 large Bueen Anne style brick house
built around 1890 for a member of the Clore family and subsequently occupied for many years by C. F. Nosworthy.
(NG}

21, 605 M. Main St. The symsetrical three-bay facade, simple pedimented frontispiece at the rentral recessed
entrance, and gable-end roof characterize the Colonial Revival stylxng of this two-story brick-veneered hnuse
dating to the 1940s. (NC)

Barage -- Gable-front, sasonite-covered building with modern roll-up doors, (NC)

22, 407 N._ Main St. This two-story brick-veneered house dates to the 1940s.  The Colonial Revival styie house is
distinguished by a gable-end roof, symsetrical fepestration, and an off-center entrance with sidelights and
negclassical surround.  (RG)

farage -- Bable-front, masonite-covered building with modern roll-up doors. (NC)
23. 809 N. Main St, The most distinctive feature of this two-story gable-roofed, brick-veneered house is the

neoclassical entrance with sideiights, sunburst fanlight, and convex lonic portico. The house dates to the
19405, (NG}

arage -- Bable-front weatherboarded building with sodern roll-up doors. (NC)
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24, 417 N, Main §t, Built between 1880 and {885, this one-stary gable-roofed house began as a airror image of 423
N. Main as originally built, The house was erected in the side yard of the Joseph Clore house which formerly
stood an the lots now occupied by 405, 607 and 409 N. Main, but it is not known if the Clores built this house
or sold the subdivided parcel to another builder. The earliest known occupant is tobacco receiver 5. I, Posey
who lived here during the 18%0s. Prior tao 1892, both this weatherboarded T-shaped house and its neighbor had a
three-sided window bay installed in the front gable end, and a few years later the porch along the rear wing
was enclosed. A large rectangular vent has been added to the front gable and the front porch was altered prior
to 1933 with replacement tapered box posts on brick plinths and screening, (D)

Barage -- Gable-front one-story building of brick-like terra cotta tiie with one pair of vertical board doors
hinged on their sides, built prior to 1931, (L)

23, 623 N, HMain St. As constructed prior to 1BBO, this one-story weatherboarded, gable-roofed house was identical
to 617 in its unesbellished T-shaped fore, but by 1885 it had a flat-roofed addition on the rear of the wing
parallel to the street, Like its neighbar, the house had a three-sided window bay added to its gable-front
wing prior to 1892; around the turn of the century, a sizable wing ending in a three-sided bay at the gable end
was added behind the earlier addition, alsoc parallel to the street, and a prominent three-sided window bay was
installed on the south side elevation, Although the house has been sided in aluminum and the front porch
altered with paired box posts on brick plinths typical of 19205 bungalows, all other early exterior features
remain intact. The earliest researched record of the property is an 1886 deed conveying the house and lot fros
#illiam F. Fulwiler to 4, 0, Clore, whose father founded Joseph Clore and Sons planing and saw mill located
immediately to the west from 1835 until the 1920s, Members of the Clore family occupied the house until around
1920, D)

25, Jensen House, 623 N. Main §t. This two-story crucifors brick Neo-Colonial with a tall cross-qable roof was
built around 1908 for jeweler J. D. dJensen and his fapily. A flat-roofed porch with prominent Ionic coluans
and molded frieze shelters the lower aain facade and rough-faced stone lintels appear at the [arge one-over-one

double-hung sash windows throughout and at the transomed, double-doored main entrance. (C)
Barage -~ Modern one-story, gable-tront, cinder block garage. (NC)

27. Rutsch House. 435 N. Main St. This well-preserved two-story L-shaped frame house features a tall gabled roof,
tall and narrow windows with molded and bracketed crown lintels which appear singly or in groups of three, and
scallopped shingles and a small round-arched vent in the front and side gables, Each gable is further defined
by a sawn and pierced scallopped band at its hase., The full-facade front porch has paired slender chanfered
posts, siaple continuous sawn spandrels linked by drop pendants, and a bracketed cornice. The original two-
story rear ell was expanded with a very large sunroom and addition to the walk-put basemsent sometime after
World War II. Stylistic elements appear to reflect an 1BBOs date for the original portions of the house, which
tertainly were built prior to 1897 when the Sanborn Insurance Maps first include this property. The earliast
known occupant was C. 0. Rutsch, bookkeeper for Bearge Delker Co., who lived here for at least thirty years
beginning around the turn of this century., (L)

8. Kraver House. 439 N. Main 5t. Like its neighbor at 433 N. Hain 5t., this two-story T-shaped fraae house
probably was built in the 18B0s and definitely prior to its appearance in the 1897 Sanborn Insurance Maps, the
first series to include this property. Kentucky Peerless Distilling Co. owner and saloon operator Hemry
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Kraver, recorded in city directories as residing here from the early 1890s until around 1920, is the earliest
known occupant and may have had the house built, The cross-gabled roof house is similarly proportioned to its
neighbor and probably also had ornamented gables and windows; its is distinguishsed by a small rectangular
window bay in the lawer {front wing. Unfartunately, the house has been sided in aluminua, all original trim has
been removed, the original curved corner entrance porch has been replaced with aodern elesents, and a one-story
addition was made to the north front recess. (NC)

fiarage -- One-story, gable-front building with two narrow bays covered by sliding doors, built betwen 1913 and
1923, {C)

29. Mewcosb House., 707 N, Main St. This well-preserved house is among the most interesting in the district due
both to its siting and architecture. The house is somewhat secluded, situated on a tree-covered rise far back
trom the street an a very deep corner lot that stretches all the way to Water §t. Architecturally, the house
is unigue in the district for its robust Italianate treatment of a traditional one-story, one-rops-deep fora,
Btylistic elements such as the heavy bracketed cornice reflect a construction date in the third quarter of the
19th century, probably in the late 1840s when several other imposing Italianate houses were erected along N.
Main St. and in fashionable neighborhoods south and east of the business district. The symsetrical five-bay
aain farade consists of tall windows flanking a large recessed central entrance which is the design's focal
point. Unusually tall and wide, the entrance is defined by a very heavy and richly panelled and bossed surround
aarked by an exaggerated bracketed cornice and stained a dark brown to contrast to the white-painted brick.
The porch across the middle three bays has a bracketed cornice and slender molded, square-in-section box posts;
sawn spandrels create an arcaded effect that further enhances the entrance due to the narrower spacing of the
two middle posts to enframe the frontispiece exactly. To the rear there is a sizeable ell to which a carport
has been attached. In addition, a long and narrow one-story brick wing runs parallel to the original ell fros
the northwest corner of the house, According to city directories, the house was occupied froa the early 1890s
until the 1910s by Mrs. Mary Mewcomb and her children; Mrs. Newcomb was the widow of E. B. Newcoab who owned a
tobacco stemsery at the southwest corner of Elm and Eighth Streets, The house merits additional research to
deteraine its origins, (C)

30, Allin-Taylor House, 711 N. Main 5t. This one-and-one-half-story brick house represents three construction
phases. The original, southern portion of the house -- a vernacular Breek Revival style building with a gable-
end roof and four-bay facade -- was built between 1855 and 1862 for Richard W. Allin. In order to confore to
the steeply sloping terrain, Allin had the house built on a full basement that appears as an additional story
on the main facade, A long flight of steps provided access to the entry porch in the north front bay of the
pain level. Tobacconist Allan Gilmore bought the house in 1862 and five years later sold it to Francis Millet,
a aerchant who was one of the victias of an infamous bandit raid in downtown Henderson during the Civil War.

“Hillet paid 3,500 for the property, which he named *Millet Hill,” and planted a vineyard between the house and
the river. His tenure here was brief, however, as he sold the property in 1873 to Dr. Thomas ¥. Taylar, in
vhose family it remained until 1933, In 1904, Dr. Taylor's daughter and her husband, Sallie Taylor and Posey
Marshall, had the northern cross~pabled wing and porch across the original facade added and the sain entrance
enlarged to accossodate double doors.  The current owners remodelied the house after Gulf Coast houses by
removing the latticework that had concealed the original basement and installing the eain entrance at the lower
level, Despite these and other changes {to window sashes and upper porch}, the house retains nuserous exterior
{eatures of the historic, 1904 renovation, including the overall fors and fenestration, brackets above the
clipped corners of the front and side elevations, and scallopped shingles in the gables. (L)
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31, Kipg House. 723 N. Main St. 4#round 1914, H. L. King, president of Henderson Sales & Finance Lo., had this
two-story brick-veneered house constructed for his family. The simple rectangular form, gable-end roof and
symmetrical three-hay aain facade with a central entrance reflect the influence of the Colonial Revival style,
while the eave brackets and almost full-facade front porch with heavy brick piers and slightly arched entabla-
ture borrow from the bungalow mode. (D)

Garage -- One-story brick, gable~front building contesporary with the house. (L)

32, Eisfelder-McClelian House. 733 M. Main St. According to Edmund J. Starling in his History of Hendersen
County, Kentucky, brewer Frederick Eisfelder built this two-story weatherboarded house in 1874 for $2,800.
Eisfelder had come to Henderson in 1848 to invest in and manage Reutlinger Brewery, founded by William
Reutlinger three years earlier at the southeast corner of Main and Eighth Streets, about fifty yards from this
house. The Eisfelders remained here until 1887 when they sold the house to Posey Marshall. The family of Wrs.
fAnnie McClellan, grocers who bought the house from the Marshall in 1900, remained here until 1940. With its
fore of a hip-roofed core with offset gabled wings, fairly restrained decorative program limited to the gables
and front porch, and use of wood exclusively, the well-preserved house is an early and conservative rendition
of the Bueen finne style on a moderate scale. The three-sided, two-story bay in the front wing is typical, as
is the use of decorative shingles in the gables. The entrance porch has chasfered posts, aatchstick railing
and a distinctive, rather delicate-looking millwork frieze that may have been a standard planing sill product
although it is unique today in Henderson. A one-story wing extends from the northwest corner of the house.
The plan has been altered somewhat, but much of the interior detailing, such as the staircase and trim through-
out, remain intact. (C)

33. Worsham House. 737 N. Main §t. Ohio Valley Banking & Trust Co. president John C. Worshas had this Neoclassical
Revival style house constructed for his family in the aid 1920s. The imposing quality of the two-story tile
house veneered in Flemish bond brick is enhanced by its tall balustrade concealing an almest flat roof and
placement on a raised basement. [dentifying stylistic elesents include the self-contained blocky fors, tall
brick stringcourse, one-story lonic porch facing Eighth 5t., Ionic surrounds at the Main 8t. and Eighth St.
entrances, and the sections of turned masonry balusters incorporated in the brick balustrade. A one-car garage

is located under the porch. (C)
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HISTORICAL CONTEXT: HENDERSON'S S0CIG-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Henderson’'s initial settlement dates to the 1790s, but the story of the city’s
founding is intertwined with Kentucky’'s origin’s almost three decades earlier. After
Daniel Bpone returned to Hillsborough, North Carolina in 1764 following his trek
across the Alleghenies for the Transylvania Company, his account of the wilderness
prompted Company head Richard Henderson to begin planning a new western colaony. In
1775, the Company purchased 20,000,000 acres between the Kentucky River and the
headwaters of the Cumberland River from the Cherokees, but the following year all of
the Company’'s holdings west of Virginia were included in the County of FKentucky
created by the Virginiz Conventian. Ultimately, the Virginia legislature granted
Henderson and his fellow proprietors 200,000 acres on the Ohio River at the mouth of
the Green River, 1in hostile territory 200 miles west of the Company’'s first Kentucky
settlement at Boonesborough.

flmost two decades passed before the Company had their grant surveyed in anticipation
of permansntly settling it, In the course of the 1796 survey, the highest ground on
the Ohio River was set aside as the town of Henderson with four sireets paralleling
the river for two-and-one-half miles, intersected by 25 cross streets. Each block,
of four acres, was divided into four square in-lots of egual size, and 32 additional
‘out~lots of 10 acres each were laid out in a one-lot-deep band along the three
landward edges. Some of the lowest land in the middle of the in-lots, the equivalent
of approximately siy blocks forming a rectangular plot perpendicular te the river,
was put under the town’'s municipal jurisdiction for public use. Richard Henderson
and five of the other eight original proprietors had died by the time the
Transylvania Company met in 1797 for final disposition of their holdings. The
proprietars or their heirs and representatives drew lots for tracts platted the
previous year, Although none of the original proprietars ever lived in Henderson,
some of their relatives and descendants ultimately settied there.

Henderson's topographical desirability was not & secret known only to the
Transylvania Company. For many years priaor to the arrival of the surveyors, numerous
pioneers plying the Ohio River in search of desirable land had taken note of the red
clay cliffs west of the mouth of the Green River, When the surveyors arrived,
portions of the land they platted as in- and out-lots already were occupied by a
small village known as Red Banks which consisted of numerous simple wooden buildings
{(none of which survives) on the river bank between what is now  Sixth and Powell
Btreets, The Transylvania Company allowed sach citizen who had arrived prior to 17%4
and improved his property to keep it and in addition gave each tithable male a one-
acre leot. Additional newcomers soon followed, many from Morth Carolina and Virginia
who brought the slaves needed to help cultivate the rich bottom land that was &
primary attraction of the area. Tobacco became the region’s first industry and.
nurtured the development of the new community as an important market with ideal
access provided by the Ohioc River., The names "Red Banks" and "Hendersan” remained in
use interchangeably at least into the 1820s,
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In 1798, Kentucky’'s General Assembly designated northern Christian County as
Henderson County and Henderson as the new county’'s seat, Within a year a jail was
built on the public sguare, but a courthouse was not completed on adjoining parti-
“tioned acreage until 1B14. The late 1790s and the first decade of the new century saw
the establishment of institutions and businesses that signalled the community’s

development.  Records suggest that a school was in. operation .and Methodist,
Fresbyterian and Roman Catholic congregations organized, although all services were
held in brush arbors or private homes. In contrast, taverns apparently thrived. In

addition to Hannah Dunn and a man named Bradley opened the town’'s first two taverns
in the center of town prior to 1798, and Michael Sprinkle opened Henderson's first
licensed tavern in his log house at the southwest corner of Main and Fifth Streets,
later ogcupied by the Barret & Co. tobacco factory. The first two doctors arrived in
1BOO, and in 1802 the first ferry across the Ohio River began operating. Merchants
included Henderson’'s most famous early citizen, John James Audubon, who arrived from
Louisville in 1809 to open a general merchandise store. fudubon also invested in
real estate and other ventures and enjoyed great success for a while, but business
failures during the 1B10s ultimately prompted him to leave Henderson and rely on his
talents as an artist and naturalist. The. town marked the end of the new century’s
firet derade with incorporation and a population of approximately 160,

Steady development marked the next half-century terminating with the onset of the
Civil HMar. Due to its location on the major transportation route of the Ohio River
and its relatively superior population (also atfected by the river location),
Henderson quickly became one of the top ten manufacturing counties in  Kentucky's
largest region, today comprised of 38 counties and known as the Pennyrile. Henderson
Gounty has maintained that position consistently to the preseat, with most of its
manufacturing activities focussed on the county seat.

The Ohio River's steamboat era commenced in 1811 with the successful round-trip
maiden voyage of the New Orleans from Pittsburgh to 1its namesake <city, River
improvements over the years increased the ease with which these boats travelled up
and down the Ohio and greatly enhanced Henderson’'s economic development by augsenting
the efficiency with which goods could be shipped to and from other markets. For
several decades the Ohioc River remained Henderson’'s major thoroughfare as road
improvements progressed slowly. Although the Henderson and Nashville Railroad was
incorporated in 1837 and again in 1830, construction of the line consisted only of
tracks along Fourth 5t. to the river before it was interrupted by the Civil Har,

Henderson's reliance upon & river subject to summer droughts that rendersd it
passable only to shallow-draft vessels meant that the community’s exports were
primarily those that could be held in starage. Lonsequently, tobacco, already the
county’s leading crop, became Henderson’s leading industry as well. As e=arly as
1801, a legislative inspectorship act designating Henderson one of the state’'s
tobacco inspection points centered the tobacco exports of the entire western sectiaon
pf Kentucky here, A second inspection house was opened in 1805 to handle ather
commodities in demand such such as besf, pork, flour and hemp, which alsoc were
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heavily traded on the river. The steadily increasing output of crops and livestock
led to the opening of warehouses, beginning with Philip Barbour’'s one-story tobacco,
hemp, cotton and pork warehouse in 1811, Several other Henderson merchants becanme
major wholesalers of the region’s produce, but tobacco remained by far the county’'s
biggest commodity, leading toc the county seat’'s status as the country’'s first strip
tobacco market. {Stripping refers to the process of stripping, stemming, redrying
and repacking tobacco in hogsheads for one or two years of fermenting in order to
repder it usable for chewing or smoking.) William and Samuel Bowen's large one-story
frame tobacco inspection warehouse built in 1814, the Henderson and Ingram & Fosey
warehouses begun ip 1817, and Richard Atkinson & Co.’'s tohacco warehouse in operation
from 1B19 to 1844 all indicated tobacco’s rapid ascendancy. By 1840 +four tobacco
stemmeries were in business, and ten years later two additional stemmeries began
operation, Althaugh the county’'s tobacco farmers prospered, it was the tobacconists
in town who became truly wealthy, and by 1860, as the largest dark tobacco stripping
market in the worid, Henderson was said to rank second only to Frankfort-am-Main in
Germany as the globe’'s wealthiest city per capita.

Dug to the transportation limitations, wmost of Henderson’s other antebellum indus-
tries ratered to local needs, Blacksmiths, lumber mills and grist mills predomi-

- nated, wmost of them built on or near the river in the downtown area, with several
north of the town center as well. In 1857, +the firm of Bhraeder & Clore leased the
river front just below Seventh St. +for their new steam sawmill. Although distilled
spirits stored well and had been produced by the region’'s farmers since settlement,
the manufacture of alcoholic beverages did not become a major industry until the late
1850s when the Henderson Brewery was estabhlished by Reutlinger & Klauder at the
northeast corner of Main and Eighth Straeets. Other antebellum industrial ventures
included the 18535 efforts of the Henderson Coal Company to sink a coal shatt near
Twelfth and Water Streets, Coal was found but efforts were aborted due tp legal
problems. At an adjacent site, David R. Burbank, owner of one of Henderson's tobacco
stemmeries, dug = shaft for a personal supply of coal and then drilled an artesian
salt well for commercial purposesy after the salt works exploded, he worked his toal
mine as a business until 1842,

Henderson County is in the middle of the Mississippi Valley Coal Field, and since the
18208, when exposed cutcroppings of coal had been extracted from riverbanks, the ore
had become a majoer source of incone. Before long, shaft mines dug throughout the
county were yielding handsome profits for their investors. Many coal mine owners and
agents were based in Henderson, which soon became an important regional coal market,
The prowimity of the mines to navigable routes facilitated coal sales, virtually all
of which occurred within the county and especially in the town of Henderson, where an
expanding sconomy created an exclusive local market for an ample supply of cpal. The
petroleum industry emerged in the county in 1836 when a coal company learned to
extract paraffine oil from coaly it was not until after the Civil War, however, that
il and gas wells proliferated throughout Henderson County.
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The pace of Henderson's cosmercial, institutional and residential development
‘generally paralleled the town’s industrial growth during the antebellum period.
Henderson’s riverfront location and designatien as the county seat ensured its status
as a majaor regional market and helped to buffer it from economic calamity. Real
= estate values increased steadily, surging along with wages and development just prior
~ o to the Fanic of 1817 and stabilizing by 1820 when immigration to Henderson was on the
rise again, a;cumpanlea by renewed development, Throughout the next four decades,
‘the establishment and growth of sawmills and brickyards necessary to satisfy an
increasing demand - for building materials wmirrored the financial stability af
Henderson's citizens. At the center of town in the environs of the public sguare,
new and expanded businesses erected frame and brick buildings for such enterprises
-as Henderson's first newspaper and hotel, as well as new banks. In his annual
accounts of Henderson’'s progress, Starling mentions four taverns, four groceries aad
four boat stores operating in 18423 his entry for 1835 lists four taverns, nine
groceries, three commission wmerchants, five boarding houses and two general
merchandise stores. The rise of the institutional trappings characteristic of =2
full-fledged community included at least three private academies in the 181¢s.
Henderson's first religious building was Union Church erected in 1825 at a corner of
the public square and used by most of the town's denominations until they could build
“their own facilities. A spate of church building -- often an initial frame structure
replaced several vyears later by a larger brick church -- was initiated by the
Episcopalians and follaowed in succession by the Baptists, Methodists, Fresbyterians,
Disciples of Christ and Cumberland Presbyterians from the late 1830s through the
18505,

The City’'s economic development efforts fell primarily in the category of opublic
works such as street improvements and battling the persistent problem of river bank
erosion and stagnant ponds in the low-lying areas at the center of town. It was not
until the late 1850s that the ponds were successfully drained or filled in, the
ravines eliminated and the river bank stabilized with the aid of new riverfront
industrial plants. At about the same time, the town center’s streets were re-graded
and bordered by brick, plank and gravel sidewalks, and in 1B&0 gaslights wsre
installed. These improvements were intended to encourage residential development as
well as attract new businesszes. Most of Henderson's businessmen, professionals and
laborers chose to live in the neighborhoods immediately north and south of the
central business districty others preferred the more rural settings to the east ar
farther north above Fifth St. Today, all of Henderson’'s antebellum industrial and
commercial buildings are gone and the only architectural vestiges of the community’s
remarkable prosperity of the period are 5t. Paul’s Episcopal Church (1839} and
several houses in the neighbarhoods immediately north and south of the business area.

Henderson’'s public improvements came to a halt with the onset of the Civil War 1in
1841, As a border town in a border state, Hendersen's populace bore sharply divided
loyalties. Aware of the constant threat of Union gunboats stationed across the river
in Evansville, Indiana, Henderson maintained an aofficial posture which shifted
between neutrality and benign or reluctant support for the visiting forces of tke
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moment, depending upon how dictatorial the commanding officers wmight be toward
Henderson's citizens. Throughout the war, the presence of the Union Army in
Henderson was nmore freguent and enduring than that of the Confederate. Federal
garrisons often appropriated the Courthouse, Barret’'s Tobacco Factory and other large
facilities and wused the Fublic Square as a parade ground while awaiting orders tao
engage the enemy elsewhere. For the next two vyears local wmilitary incidents
consisted of the periodic capturing and shooting of deserters and guerrillas,
Henderson's last major episcde of the war occurred in July 1864 when a band of
putlaws destroyed the telegraph, looted downtown stores and killed one merchant.
Although growth halted and most businesses suffered severe downturns, certain
developments such as the local Catholic congregation erecting 5t. Louis Church and
the George Delker Company’s commencement of buggy manufacturing, both in 1863, indi-
gate that Henderson’'s existence during the early 1840s was not one of total stagna-
tion or complete dominance by the war.

fiter more than four years of severe economic hardships and abuses by both forces,
Henderson contrasted sharply to its boom-town image of the late 1850s. By the tfime
fen. Lee surrendered at Appomattox, most of the public improvements of the 18405 and
18505 suffered from lack of maintenance and outright damage. Certain factors,
“however, hastened Henderson’'s racovery. Although many players in the local taobacco
market had suffered setbacks during the war, few suffered complete reversals of their
fortunes and most retained sufficient capital to begin rebuilding their businesses.
In addition, an 1854 act of the Legislature converting Henderson from a town to a
city wvested with all the general powers of a municipal corporation enabled the local
government in 1B&7 +to ratify a new charter providing a wmore efficient means of
revenue collection. Consequently, public works funds depleted on the renovation of
the courthouse in 18646 could be replenished; permitting additional improvements to
streets and sidewalks throughout central Henderson and along the northern reaches of
Main Bt.

The most important factor in Henderson's post-Civil War economic recovery was comple-
tion of the railroad. In 1847, the newly formed Evansville, Henderson % Nashville
Railroad bought the assets of the old Henderson &% Nashville Railroad and in March,
1849, finished the road to Madisonville, KY. Two years later the company extended
the line to Buthrie, KY, where it joined the Edgetield and Kentucky Railroad tao
connect Henderson and Nashville. In 1B79, the E H & N was sold to the Louisville &
Nashville Railroad which linked up with the Illinpis Central system upon coapletion
of the Ohio River railroad bridge between Henderson and Evansville in 1885, With
this development, the number of markets available to Henderson industrialists, parti-
cularly northern markets; increased tremendausly. Also during the 1880s, two addi-
tional vrailroads wmade Henderson their hubs. The Ohip Valley Railroad completed a
route between Henderson and Princeton, KY, in 18BB7 and in the 18905 was extended to
Hopkinsviile, KY before being acquired by the Illinois Central. A third railroad
agperated by the Louisville, §8t., Louis and Texas Rallroad ran eastward from Hendersaon
to the Illinois Central Railroad at West FPoint, KY; its completion in 1889 provided a
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short cut between Louisville and St. Louis and facilitated transport of coal from the

- Western Kentucky coalfields to Louisville. In addition, a late nineteenth-century
belt line railroad within the city limits affarded rail access to many of Henderson's
factories not situated on the inter-city lines.

With the construction of the railroads, especially after completion of the Ohio River
railroad bridge, Henderson's leading antebellum industries quickly revived. Most of
the pre-war tobacco houses enlarged their physical plants as newcomers built sizable
facilities.” The majarity of these factories packaged tobacco for shipment, primarily
to England, while a few made products such as chewing tobacco and cigars. Historian
Maralea Arnett relates that Henderson County had 51 tobacco stemmeries and prising
plants by 'the early 1890s; altogether they shipped more than 12 million pounds of
dark tobacco annually, maintaining Henderson's status as the nation's largest strip
tobacco market. Alcoholic beverage production, which had emerged just prior to the
war, blossomed in the late 18405, D. R. Burbank built Henderson's first distillery
in 18469 on river frontage close to his salt and coal wells at the end of Twelfth St.
The previous year, the Henderson Brewery hbecame the Reutlinger and Eisfelder Brewsry,
and in 1870 they built a sizable addition to their plant at the corner of N. Main and
Eighth Streets. Small distilleries were established in the late 1B40s and 1870s on

- the river bank at the north end of town, but several ceased operating by the late
18708 and it was not until Henderson became part of the L & N rail network in 1B79
that distilling emerged as a vital segment of the local economy, . as represented by
Hill and Winstead’'s "Silk Velvet" sour mash whiskey produced from 1880 uptil the mid-
17108 and MWorsham Distilling Company’s "Feerless" whiskey first marketed in 1881,
The Clore planing and saw mill expanded its operation in 1877 and soon hecame a2 major
employer manufacturing window sash, doors, and trim in addition to turning out
thousands of feet of dressed lumber each day:; Clore’s company constructed housesz as
well.

Carriage manufacturing, textiles and ceramics led the industries making their initial
appearances in Henderson during the last decades of the nineteenth century. Three
major carriage wmanufacturers were in operation by 1882, the same vyear Hendersaon
Woolen Mills, the city’'s first textile mill, was crganized. The following vyear
Henderson Cotton Mills was built for the production of fine sheeting and soon hecame
Henderson's largest industry of the nipeteenth century. With the establishment of
Kleymeyer Brickyards at Henderson’'s eastern outskirts in 1868, the county seat becanme
one of the leading ceramics producers in the Pennyrile, Qut in the county, coal
production remained an important factor in the city’'s economic growth as the
investors in the largest mining companies included numerous Henderson tobacconists
and developers. Today, virtually all of Henderson's industrial buildings of this
period are gone, including all of the tobacco stemmeries and warehouses and the
textile mills (razed in the mid 1980s), leaving the era’'s houses as the physical
representations most closely associated with the people instrumental in the city’s
industrial revival,
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Cancurrently, Hendersan's merchants and praofessionals prospered, bath long-
established and newly organized churches built new sanctuaries, and private education
continued to flourish while an incipient public school system expanded from one to
four schools. Perhaps the best indicator of an expanding economy is an increase in
private construction, and ins Henderson the development of the central business
district and residential neighborhoods during the post-war years is today the most
vivid reflection of the town’'s vitalify during the late nineteenth century.

Residential construction for all economic levels recommenced as soon as the Civil War
ended and quickly multiplied as industrial growth attracted immigrants, many of whon
were European, including numerous Germans, The majority of the largest and wmost
stylish houses were built along Center St., 8. Main and 5. Elm Streets north of Dixon
§t., and N. Main St. north of the central business district. The rapidity with which
Henderson recovered +rom the war is most dramatically reflected today by several
imposing Italianate residences built prior to 1870, including the large brick houses
in the 400 block of N. Main §t. commissioned by A. H. Talbatt and A. Shelby Nunn
which signalled the continued development of the fashionable neighborhood north of
the business district which had begun to emerge around 1860. A good deal of develop-
ment was the work of speculators who transformed fields into blocks newly designated
- &s "enlargements” aor "additions" of narrow lots filled with small houses for sale or
rent. During the 1B70s, more than 374 houses ranging from modest three-room frame
cottages to elegant ten-room brick dwellings were built at a total cost of approxi-
mately 470,000, Neighborhood growth north and south of downtown was boosted by a
private company's establishment of a streetcar line along Main §t. in 1889, Teams of
mules drew the cars along the tracks until 1894 when the line was electrified, The
street railway continued to operate until around 1920 when the increasingly popular
private automobile vrendered it obsolete. During the intervening four decades,
however, the easy access it afforded to work and shops downtown enhanced the
desirability of outlying residential areas. Throughout the period, Kleymeyer
Brickyard and Joseph Clore and Sons planing and saw mill thrived as Henderson's
primary suppliers, although standard millwork, hardware and other building materials
could be obtained in Evansville or ordered from other cities, The importance of the
Clore planing mill, as well as that of the Kentucky Flaning Mill established sometime
between 18B% and 1892, also extended to their roles as major building contractors.

With the advent of the twentieth century, Henderson’'s future appeared bright. For
many years the city continued to enjoy steady growth due to a healthy economy.
Henderson Cotton Mills remained the largest industry. Among the local distilleries,
Kentucky Peerless underwent the greatest expansion, including three large bonded
warehouses by 1913, while the company’'s president, Henry Kraver, acguired the old
‘Henderson Brewery. The 1913 city directory also attests to the success of the horse-
drawn carriage industry, listing three large companies and a smaller firm., Only
tobacco, which had heen the key to Henderson's prosperity during the nineteenth
century, began to decline in the early 1900s with a sharp drop in leaf prices
followed by strife between farmers, who kept their leaf off the market in an attempt
to force prices upward, and independent growers, who continued to sell to the monopo-
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listic American Tobacco Company. After anti-trust laws broke up American Tobacco in
the early 19i0s, the market improved nationally but Pennyrile growers continued to
suffer as the newly organized companies’ product lines failed to use the dark leaf
and the region’'s products became limited to declining cigar and snuff lines.

The fall of Henderson's former leading industry presaged a general economic downtown
in the mid 1910s as certain factors developing simultaneously resulted in stagnation
of all major industries. The suffering tobacco industry was dealt a sharp blow in the
early 19105 when a rise in Great Britain’s import tariffs rendered shipment tfo
England, which had become the local industry’'s mainstay, so wunprofitable that
Henderson's tobacco market came to a standstill. At about the same time, the automo-
bile industry began & rapid expansion and eventually led to the closing of
Henderson's horse-drawn vehicle factories, although one company did make a successful
transition to furniture manufacturing. With the mobilization of the nation's armed
tforces in 1915 came the need for increased food production. Henry Kraver thought his
tlosing of Kentucky Peerless in order to conserve corn for the war effort was a
temporary measure, but within two years his and all other distilleries were forced to
remain closed when ratification of the 18th Amendment to the Constitution enacted
Frohibition, Henderson's economy, essentially depressed for several years prior to

- the 1929 stock market crash, was kept alive primarily by the continuad operation af
the town’'s cotton mills and the county’'s oil and gas wells apd coal mines, the latter
having reached their peak production in 1922. The crash eventually led to the demise
of the teutile industry with the closing of the mills in 1931, ficcording to Maralea
frnett, Henderson was judged to be in the worst economic condition of any city in the
country at the onset of the Great Depression. The petroleum industry may be credited
with keeping the local economy from total collapse, for in 1928 oil and gas strikes
in the east-central area of the county attracted major oil companies seeking land
leases.

In the meantime, institutional and residential development had continued during the
first two decades of the century, tapering off as the economy slowed and Henderson's
population shrank for the first time, during the 1920s5. ~Between 1907 and 1924, the
three public schools for whites and one for blacks dating from the nineteenth century
more than dpubled with construction of a second black elementary school and twao
additional graded schools for whites, as well as & high school for each group of
students. Residents of all ages henefited from Henderson's first public library,
huilt at the south edge of the business district in 1904 with funding from
industrialist Andrew Carnegie. Residential construction in neighborhoods surrounding
the business ares occurred on the relatively few remaining unimproved lots, in new
subdivisions of large parcels, and on the former sites of early nineteenth-century
dwellings, while rural areas at the edge of town were opened up as the new century
progressed. Taday, it 1is generally recognized that one benefit of the declining
1210s  and 19205 economy was the unintentional preservation of the wealth of residen-
tial fabric from Henderson’'s mid nineteenth- to sarly twentieth-century heyday due ta
the ilack of financial resources for remadelling and redevelopment.
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For most of the 1930s, Henderson suffered yet remained vital. As the county seat and
hub of major transportation routes, Henderson continued as a regional commercial
center, bolstered by coal, o0il and gas productien. Coal prices may have been
depressed, but production never ‘ceased as it did in many other Kentucky counties
during this period. After the 1928 oil and gas strikes, oil leases and well digging -
multiplied. Finally, in 1937, economic recovery was sparked, ironically, by the Ohio
River flooding which was a tragedy for many other communities. While the great flood
of January 1937 forced the evacuation of thousands of people and livestock from the
county’'s low-lying areas, Henderson had the distinction of being the only city on the
Ohio River above the high-water mark. Industries soon began moving into Henderson,
beginning with Bear Brand’'s purchase of the cotton mill four months after the +Flood.
The following year, the local econromy received another boost when a "gusher" oil well
was struck, spawning numerous additional new wells and hundreds of o0il and gas
leases, By 1940, Henderson had surpassed its previous population high of the early
19205,

Henderson had only 16 industries in 1938, but by 1950 it had 41 diverse industrial
firms ranging from furniture and chemical companies to metal fabricators. During the
nast forty years, Henderson has continued to grow with a strengthened commitment to
industrial development which has been matched in recent vyears by dedication to
preserving central Henderson's vitality through preservation and promotion of its
historic resources. Despite new shopping centers and pther commercial development
concentrated along U.85. 41 leading to Evansville, downtown Henderson's business
district vremains vibrant, bolstered by the adjacent early residential neighborhoods
which remain highly desirable and the focus of numerous restoration projects,

ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT

ficcording to Dr. Charles E. Martin in his unpublished manuscript, "The Pennyrile
Cultural Landscape" (prepared +for the Kentucky Heritage Council in 1988 and the
spurce for the Pennyrile architectural context herein), housing in the Fennyrile, as
in most places, ‘"was predicated on class, location, financial success, and degreg of
social aspiration® (p. 248). Rural subsistence farmers usually were satisfied with
basic, folk -type housing of log or frame, embellished as time and fortune allowsd,
while to the segment of the regional population that fluctuated most financially,
socially, politically and aesthetically -- exemplified by the industrialists,
merchants, artisans and professionals living in urban areas -- housing was a means of
suggesting one’'s financial successes and therefore tended to embrace transforming
national architectural styles brought into the region by print and word of wmouth,
Martin continues, "Although the bulk of the Pennyrile has most often been character-
ized as agricultural, it was the county seat husiness community who, after about
1825, was most responsible for the acceptance of the transitional styles leading to
the acceptance of popular national ones" (page Z8B). Henderson's residential archi-
tecture represents Martin’'s statement that “"the chronology and coaplexity of
Pennyrile house types closely follows the degree and complexity of commerce and
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industry in the region" (page 26%9). By circa iBb40, when development yielding the
aldest surviving buildings in the North Main Street Historic District commenced,
Henderson’'s awareness of the fashionable architecture in the nation’s trend-setting
~metropolitan areas was indicated 'by late Greek Revival and Italianate features
characterizing houses erected for her numerous prosperous citizens.

Lertainly, the town's earliest dwellings, +rom the 17905 and 1800s, were simple log
or frame structures, as indicated by historian Edmund Starling’'s notation that every
ot holder was required, within two years, to build on his property "a framed, hewn
or sawed log house, at least 16 feet square, with a good dirt, stone or brick chimney
and plank floor" (page 254). But by the 1Bl0s and the passing of the settlement
period, numerous newWw houses were substantial frame or brick affairs reflecting a
knowledge of national trends imported from such cities as Pittsburgh and New Orleans
via the Ohio River. Although the area in which the North Main Street Historic
District 1is located remained sparsely inhabited until the post-bellum period, it is
tikely that it had its share of folk housing, if only to accommodate servdnts
employed in the few sizable houses, but all of it has been lost through deterioration
or the deliberate replacement with more substantial and stylish dwellings, & practice
characteristic of the town generally. A very few log and frame antebellum houses
‘remain scattered throughout Henderson, all of them substantially altered. In the
neighbortoods immediately north and south of downtown Henderson, however, where early
residential development was concentrated, the relatively few remaining antebellum
houses . display the influences of the Federal, #6Greek Revival and early Italianate
styles, apt reflections of Henderson's status as one of the world’'s wealthiest cities
per capita to which knowledge of current cultural affairs was imported daily by Ohic
River traffic.

Martin characterizes 1840s Fennyrile architecture overall as profoundly conservative:
“In a political and social situation which saw see-sawing military control and an
atmosphere of neighborly mistrust and revenge, builders were reluctant to make archi-
tectural statements by which they might be negatively judged and later punished”
{page 271}, As throughout the state, construction slowed almost to a halt in
.Henderson during the war, but the period did witness a few large projects during that
time, including the Roman Cathelic 8t. Louis Church, while the building of numerous
large dwellings such as the Talbott-Stites-Royster House f{entry 3) and the Nunn-
McClain-Clay House (entry 4), imposing Italianate dwellings erected on adiocining lots
in the 600 block of N, Main St. in 1867, marked the latter half of the decade. In
cantrast te the majority of the region where architecture of the current style was
avoided either by postponing building altogether or by choosing a past style to which
no pretentions could be attached, Henderson’'s 1840s houses were for the most part
expressions aof the waning Greek Revival (in the early part of the decade onlyl! or
interpretations, often exuberant, of the fashionable Italianate, which nationally
enjoyed its heyday from the mid 1850s to the esarly 1870s. Full-hlawn versions of the
latter style usually were identified in Henderson by boxy, often L-shaped {forms with
almost flat roofs, deep eaves, bracketed friezes, seqmental-arched windows with hood
molds, bracketed porches with chamfered posts, and the occasional sguare-in-section
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‘tower such as that accenting the Talbott-Stites-Royster House, Henderson’'s combina-
tion of river access and a booming tobacco industry which was guickly reviving as
1870 approached yielded an architectural confidence akin to that of major population

~centers and in juxtaposition to the rest of the region which did not move into the
mainstream until the development of a railroad network. Even many of the relatively
modest late 1B60s and early 18705 houses alluded to fthe Italiapate with their simple
forms and narrow segmental-arched windows.

Throughout the last three decades of the nineteenth century, the most up-to-date
styles continued to characterize houses of both Henderson’'s well-to-do, of which
there were many, and the community’'s growing middle class. Just as the Italianate
began to wane in the nation’'s metropolitan centers with the financial panic of 1873,
virtually all of Henderson’'s Italianate houses pre-date 1880 and the majority of the
most fashionable dwellings of the remainder of the 1800s were in the Oueen Anne
style, with examples of the Romanesque Revival style and influences of the Stick and
Eagtlake modes. Concurrently, the rest of the region was keeping better pace ‘with
national trends due to improved communications provided by numerous rail lines. Host
towns now had ready access to the manufactured decorative elements essential to the
prevailing styles which could be ordered by matl and easily shipped to the
* hinterland.

Henderson, which had always had that access, was doubly fortunate to be the home of
Joseph Clore and Hons saw and planing mills, begun in 1857 and expanded in the 1870s,
and Kleymeyer and Klutey Brickyards, established in 1B4B and soon one of the
Pennyrile’s largest ceramics producers. In addition teo cutting lumber and manufac-
turing any wooden building article for a ready market in Henderson and surrounding
counties, Clore's firm was a major area house contractor. The company’s products are
probably displayed in the sawn and turned decoration of most of the Queen Anne style
houses in the North Main Street Historic District, such as the Eisfelder-Mcllellan
House (entry 32) identified by the typical irregular form and roofline and variety of
surface textures and ornamentation, The local brickyard’'s wares also are evident in
numerous HBueen Anne houses throughout town, including fthe William Soaper House (entry
1} of the late 1BBOs, which is the apex of the style in its multiple projections and
rich detailing, and the HBlackwell House (entry 19) with its cylindrical corner
towers, contrasting textures and patterns of brickwork, and terra cottz panels.
These and moest of Henderson's other masonry fueen fAnne stvle houses +feature the
ashlar trim which is a hallmark of the Romanesgue Revival style, although relatively
fevw examples of this mode, more typical of northern urban centers, are found locally.
While it is likely that certain of the largest and most distinctive designs of the
period were commissioned directly from architects {(as yet unidentified), the great
majority of the period’'s revival style houses in Henderson and the region were culled
from published designs in the collections of local contractors or ordered by mail. A
search of Henderson city directories and other primary sources from the late
nineteenth century raeveals that three architects -- Walter Brashear, Aaran F. Kennedy
and P, B. Trible % Son -- were practicing in Henderson during the early 18%0s, and
that only the Trible firm remained active here from the late 18%90s into the 1910s.
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In contrast, the {893 city directly listed ten contractors and six carpenters _and
builders (four of whom also appear under the contractor categoryl.

While elite housing unanimously embraced picturesque revival design during the late
nineteenth  century, wurban housing . for lower income brackets also reflected the
arevailing styles. The majority of housing built in the Pennyrile’s tawns and cities
during the late 1B00s and early 1900s is best described as "folk Victorian" -- basic
house types, usually frame gable-front and wing forms in L- or T-shapes, embellished
with ready-made turned and sawn ornament that alludes to the Bueen Anne, Eastlake and
other "high" styles. The degree of decoration often mirrored the economic status of
the prcupant, with some of the cottages seeming to be advertisements for the versati-
ity of area planing mills. Small, simple forms with a minimum of finish continued
te characterize laborer housing. Blacks lived in the most conservative dwellings, at
the edges of town or along alleys behind the stylish homes of their emplayers.
Numerous instances of black housing in the latter lorale may be detected by perusal
of city directories and Sanborn insurance maps, but virtuwally all examples of these
husble and often poorly constructed dwellings have been removed or so altered that
they are no longer distinguishable as houses,

Into the twentieth century, Henderson, like most urban areas in Kentucky and the rest
of the nation, embraced architectural principles of both neoclassicism and the Arts
and Crafts movement. An increasing interest in the cauntry’'s beginnings became
evident first 1in the incorporation in late Bueen Anne houses, also known as Neo-
Colonials,; of classical elements associated with colonial architecture and sventually
gave way to the Colonial Revival style, By the 1920s, other period revival styles
such as the Tudor and Mediterranean were contributing to the heterogeneity of urban
neighborhood streetscapes, Craftsman bungalows promoted by such mail order firms as
Aladdin and Sears, Roebuck % Co. were erected by the thousands across the country.
Generally considered to be economical and small to moderate in size and scale;, they
also could be large and carefully detailed and thus appealed to a broad spectrum of
the population. The foursgare also became a popular house type, displaying the
influence of both the Craftsman and period revival modes.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

When agents of the Transylvania Company laid out Henderseon in the 1790s, the area now
known as the North Main Street Historic District was designated as all of in-lots 18,
19, 22, 23, 25, 24, 27, &5, 48, 6% and 77 and part of in-lot 28. According to
information compiled by local historians and listed on a copy of the ariginal town
plat maintained in the Henderson Fublic Library's North Carolina FRoom, twenty-thres
men who had settled prior to 1794 in Henderson, or Red Banks as it was then known,
were each given one in-lot, all north of Second 5t. Several cf these lots were
immediately adjacent to the district, such as lots 14 and 16 on Fifth §t. betwsen N.
Hain and MWater Streets and lots 17 ang 20 on Water between &ixth and &Seventh
F*;nets. but none was wiihin the district’'s boundaries. Inside the district, scon
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after the area was platted, in-lots 18 and 22 (the northwest corners of Fifth and N.
Main and Sixth and N. Main, respectively) were purchased by Eneas McCallister, one of
the pre-1794 settlers who had received a lot near the center of town, {Maralea
found a salt lick and manufactured salt for the settlers, was Henderson County’s
Lhief Hagistrate in 1800,  and eventually became Territprial Judge for the Indiana
Jerritory,) Information about the initial purchase of the other in-lots constituting
the district has not been gathered, and it is not certain how much, if any, of the
area was developed during Henderson’'s settlement periocd. The town’'s real estate
values increased steadily throughout the 1800s and into the 1810s as aore than 100 of
the in-lots were sold, but their development was rather slow dus to numerous
purchases by absentee investors who made only the minimal improvemenits mandated by
deed covenants.

Knowledge of the North Main Street Historic District’'s development during the half-
century prior to the Civil War is rather sketchy, especially for-the period prior to
1840, Due to their proximity to the Ohio River, the lots bordering the west =dge of
the district would have been desirable for industrial development fros an early date,
but exactly when this sort of use began remains uncertain, The =e=arliest known

- business in the immediate area was A, B. Barret’'s tobacco stemmery at the southwest
corner of Main and Fifth Streets, Jjust outside the district, which Starling cites as
being in operation here in 1841, Im 1830, Robert Clark and William Scaper began two
additional stemmeries, also adjacent to the south end of the district. During the
18508, the land immediately south of the district would have become especially
desirable as it bordered the railroad tracks running along Fourth St. to the nriver,
although the lime was only in its initial stages of construction. The firm of
Shraeder & Clore obtained a thirty-year lease for a block of the river frant below
Seventh 5t., for their new steam sawmill in 18%7, at about the same time that the
Henderson Brewery was established by Reutlinger & Klauder at the northeast corner of
N. Main and Eighth Streets, Jjust inside the district. Also near the corner of N.
Main and Eighth was McBride’'s "old Horse Mill,* of which virtually nothing is known
other than 1its location and the fact that it was torn down in 1859 (Starling, p.
313). A few blocks to the north, the Henderson Coal Company sank a coal shaft near
Twelfth and Water Streets in 1835 and, at an adjacent site, David R. Burbank, awner
of one of Henderson's tobacco stemmeries, dug a shaft for a personal supply of coal
and then drilled an artesian salt well for commercial purposes. Legal problems ended
the Henderson Coal Company's efforts and Burbank's salt works exploded, but Burbank
continued to operate his coal mine as a business. None of these industrial buildings
remains standing.

Henderson's rapid growth during the 18405 and 1850s, coupled with nearby industrial
development, enhanced the desirability of Main Bt. north of Fifth for residential
development. At Henderson's northern reaches, the area offered industrialists and
laborers alike =easy access to work while affording the pleasures of a peaceful,
bucolic setting to the north. Land purchases, such as that of in-lots &5 and 66 by
James Ed Rankin in 1838, suggest that land speculation was active heres throughout the
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first half of the nineteenth century, although the date that housing construction
commenced remains unknown. By the late 1850s, the neighborhood’s rural atmosphere
was being transformed by the "grading, draveling, guttering, curbing and improving"
of Main St. from Third te Sixth, which was authorized by city pfficials interested in
expanding the local tax base and no doubt advocated by real estate speculators
{Starling, p. 310). Only two antebellum houses remain in the district, although it
is probable that the certain of the area’'s houses shown on a map of Henderson in the
1880 Atlas of Henderson and Union Counties and no longer standing included other
representatives from that early peripd. Both of the extant early houses are brick
structures exhibiting Greelk Revival characteristics. The Bmith-Katter john House at
the southeast corner of M. Main and Fifth Streets (entry 14) is believed to have been
built prior to 18359 by either James and 5allie Rouse or Paul and Sallie Semonin,
successive awners of the property who also were partners in the 1856 caonstruction of
the steambuat "Governor Powell™ which brought financial problems in 1839, Two blocks
to the northy Richard M. Allin built the Allin-Taylor House at 7i{l N. Main St. (entry
30} sometime between 1835 and 1862, when he sold it to ftobacconist Allan Gilmore.
Gilmore's purchase and the continued operation during the early 18605 of industries
in the vicinity of the district reflect the strength of Henderson's antebellum enter-
prises and their roles in saving the town from total ruin during the Civil War.

One of the best indications of the endurance of Henderson's industries is the HNorth
Hain Street Historic District’'s development during the late 1B60s and early 1870s,
The war certainly took its toll on Henderson, but the large Italianpate and early
Bueen Anne style houses remaining along N. Main 5t. stand as vivid evidence of fairly
rapid recoveries hy the town's industrialists, Representing the height of {ashion,
the towered Italianate Talbott-Stites-Royster House (entry 3) was built in 1867 for
A. H. Talbott, who had leased David R. Burbank’'s nearby coal mine from 18462 to LBb4.
The vyear pricr to building his house, Talbott had sold the porthern half of his
property, in-lot 68, to industrialist A. Shelby Nunn who shortly thereafter hbuilt the
massive, two-and-one-half-stary Italianate Nuan-Mc€lain-Clay House {entry 4}.
Neither individual remained in the neighborhood very long, for Talbott sold his house
to tobacconist 6. 1. Beatty in the 1870s and Nunn sold his to Jackson MeClain in
1872. In addition to operating a large Henderson County farm and maintaining active
roles in local banking and railroad interest, HMcClain was a partner in the county’s
second distillery, G&tarling & McClain, which was founded on the Dhio River two miles
porth of Henderson in 1872 but defunct by the mid-1880s. {David R. Burbank began the
county’'s first distillery on the river front south of Twelfth 8t, in 1847 and it,
too, ceased operation by the mid-1880s.) One other exuberant Italianate house, the
Newcomb House at the southeast carner of N. Main and Seventh Streets (entry 29},
dates to co. 1870 while the more modest, two-story brick Italianate at 309 N, Main
apparently was built later in the same decade. The early ownership of these  two
houses has not been determined, although it is likely that the Newcomb House was
built faor Hr.  E. B. Newcomb, whose tobacco stemmery was located nearby, immediately
gast of the Henderson Brewery. (The dite of the Newcomb stemmery is not known; it
made sizeable additions to the plant in 1877.) During this post-bellum pericd,
newcomers to the developing neighborhood alsc included professionals as well as
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industrialists, as represented by Dr. Thomas W. Taylor, who purchased the Allin-
Taylor House {(entry 30) from Allap Gilmore in 1873 and remained here until his death.

The HNewcomb House may have been the Ffirst manifestation of the direct impact af the
industrial enterprises immediately north of downtown Henderson upon the development
pf the MNorth Main Street Historic District during the 1B70¢ and 1BB®s when the
neighboring industries flourished. In 1870, the Henderson Brewery expanded its
capacity with constructien of a brick two-story addition. Frederick Eisfelder, sho
had come to Henderson in 1848 to manage the brewery, selected a large parcel on N,
Main &t., across from the plant, for the two-story frame Bueen Anne style house
{entry 32) built for his family in 1874. The brewery owned all of the original in-
lot 72, with the plant at the northwest corner, Ownership in the late 1880s of the
one~story frame house (entry 1) at the sputh snd of the parcel by Mary Reutlinger,
probably a relative of the Reutlinger who was a partner with Eisfelder, suggests that
modest building highlighted by & decorative porch was erected by the bressry, perhaps
for a high-level employee. The house dates to the early 1880s and was occupi=sd by
brewmaster Rudolph Dietrichkeit in the early 1890s.

Heanwhile, J. Clore and Son Saw and Flaning Mill had grown considerably at the

- opposite corper of the district, While most of the operation was at the river's
edge, the company also owned adjoining land inside the district. In 1BBO, Jdoseph
Clore completed a large two-story house {(destroyed prior to 1944) for his family at
the northwest corner of M. Main and Sisth streets, in {front of his mill (1880 Atlas
and & March 1880 Henderson Reporterl. Although the style of this house remains
uncertain, its three-story +tower shown on Sanborn insurance maps suggests  the
[talianate. It undoubtedly advertised the materials and craftsmanship of the Clore
mill, which produced the full gamut of the wooden structural and decorative elements
tor residential comstruction and built houses as well. The 1880 atlas and insurance
maps indicate that the one-story T-shaped frame house at 623 N. HMain was built by
1889. The house at 617 N, Main, originally a mirror image of its neighbor to ths
north at 623, was built in the narth side yard of Clore’s house sometime between 1880
and 18B5 and purchased by Clore’s son in 1884, Despite the lack of conclusive
information, +the 1location of these two houses and their almest identical original
designs suggest that they were built for the higher ranking of Clore’s employses
(according to Btarling the mill employed 80 men in 1B87), weither by the mill itsel¥
or by a speculator. fn the southwest corner of N. Main and Sixth streets, used by
the mill until the late 1880s for lumber starage, 2 member of the Clore family built
a large Bueen Anne style brick house (no longer standing} around 1B90. Whiie the
Clores’ two Bueen Anne style houses and all of the industrial plants in and arocund
the historic district have been lost; the Newcomb, Eisfelder and Reutlinger houses
and the houses as 617 and 623 N. Main 8t. remain as reminders of those industries
their direct effect upon the area.

-
mo

Neighborhood industry was just one aspect of the major late-nineteenth-century
influence wupon development of the district, namely, robust economic expansion of
Henderson aoverall., Throughout the 1880s and 1890s, the N, Main S§t. neighborhood
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attracted leaders of businesses across the burgeoning city who built some of the
area’s most distinctive dwellings. As the epitome of the Bueen Anne style, the large
brick house built in the late 1B8BOs for prominent tobacco buyer William Soaper and
his bride (entry 1) might be considered a fitting symbol of the supremacy of tobacco
in Henderson's nineteenth-century economy. Across the street, a meaber of the
Blackwell family who operated a successful whpnlesale hardware business, F. A&,
Blackwell & Co., built another elaborate Queen Anne style brick house (entry 19} in
the mid-1890s. The previous decade, Mrs, Fannie Rankin, the widow of prospercus
merchant and major landholder James Ed Rankin built & large Italianate house ({entry
Z2) for her family on the north hal+t of the in-lot her husband had purthased in 1838.
Other newcomers, including wmiddle-income white collar workers, merchants and
artisans, purchased existing houses. For example, tobacconist Branch Blackwell
occupied the 18705 hrick Italianate house at 509 N. Main St. (entry 15} for approxi-
mately thirty years beginning around 1890. During the same period, Kentucky Peerless
Distilling Co. owner and saloon operator Henry Kraver lived at 639 N, Main St. {entry
28) which, along with its neighbor at 635 N. HMain, was built in the early i8B0s.  The
similarities hetween .the latter two-story frame housss and the originally almost
identical features of the neighboring one-story T-shaped frame houses at 710 and 714
M. Main 5t., ({entries 7 and 8, respectively) indicate the likelihood that all four
houses were speculative ventures,

From the turn of the twentieth century through the 19108, as Victorian eclecticism
gave way to neorlassical and Craftsman influences, most of the historic district’s
remaining lots were developed, while public improvements continued, including the
macadamizing of M. Main 8t. around 1900. Between 1877 and 1901, the last two empty
lots in the west side of N, Main Street’'s 500 block were improved with a pattern book
Bueen Anne style house at 513 (entry 146) and a transitional late Qusen Anne/Neoclas-
sical Revival style dwelling on the adioining parcel at 517 {Jdarvis House, entry 17},
while a modestly scaled interpretation of the Queen Anne mode went up at 706 N. HMain
(5tephan House, entry &). The greatest change during this period was the demise of
the brewery. Except for (BBS to 1887, when the plant was closed following a boiler
explosion and eventually sold to George H. Delvin & Ceo., the brewery remained in
operation. The last time it appeared on the Sanborn insurance maps, however, was the
1897 =series, and aon the next series, of 190f, the plant was gone and all that
remained on the one-acre former in-lof was the Reutlinger House (entry 11} and one-
and two-story outbuildings along the alley bisecting the block. {(Sometime between
1901 and 1904, the Newcomb Tobacco Stemmery, adjoining the east side of the brewery
just outside the district, also ceased operation.) Insurance maps indicate that
redevelopment of the brewery property did around 1910 when the very similar one-and-
one-half-stary neoclassically influenced frame houses at 714 {entry %) and 724 lentry
10), were huilt, probably as speculative ventures, and the one-story bungalow of
cinder black canstruction was erected on the corner of Eighth St. Across the street,
the stylish two-story brick Neo-Colonial Jensen House (entry 24) went up around 1908.

The virtual completion of the district’'s development coincided with the beginning of
Henderson’'s economic decline during the 1910s, The last two remaining empty lots
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were improved around 1914 with the completion of the large two-story, eclectic
‘Colonial Revival/Craftsman house at 723 N. Main {entry 31} and the one-and-one-half-
‘stary Craftsman bungalow at 730 N, Main (entry 12}, development of the district was
virtually completed., . The district’s only historic post-1915 house is the imposing
Neoclassical Revival style dwelling erected in the mid-1920s an the site of a one-
story nineteenth-century frame house at the northwest corner of N. Main and Eighth
streets (entry 33).

Throughout the early twentieth century, the demographics established in the district
during the late nineteenth century prevailed, although the decreasing ranks of indus-
trialists and the rise in the number of breadwinners in finance and related fields
probably reflected the city’'s shifting economy. Many long-time accupants or their
descendants, such &s the Rankins, Blackwells, Scapers, and Katteriohns, remained in
saome of the most impressive Iltalianate and Bueern Anne houses, while certain of the
more modest structures continued as rental property. Later owners of nineteenth-
century houses included bookkeeper C. 0. Rutsch (entry 27) and insurance agents N. K.
Toy {entry 14) and ¥X. R. Royster {(entry 3). Among the residents of new houses were
bookkeeper Henry A. Stephan (entry &), jeweler J. D. Jensen {entry 24}, loan company
president H, L, King (entry 31), tobacco factory owner Arthur Jarvis {entry 17), and
clothing and dry goods merchant Alex Mayer (entry 12). The district’s only 1920s
house {entry 33) was built for Ohio Valley Bankiang & Trust Co. president John C.
Worsham,

Despite +the radical shift in Henderson’'s economic basis since the 1920s, the North
Main Street Historic District continues to reflect its socic-economic development
during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries when Henderson enjoyed a
position of national eminence as & thriving tobacco market and port city. Only tuo
of the district’'s early landmark houses have been supplanted during the last half-
century. 0f the four houses built atter 1937, three of these, occupying the site of
the . 1BBQ Clore House at 403, 607 and A09 N. Main 8t., date from the early 1940s
and indicate the area’s gradual recovery from the Depression in their restrained
Colonial Revival designs. The district’'s only modern house, at 337 N. Main, stands
on the site of the other fashionable, late nineteenth-century Clore family house.
Throughout this century, the area has remained fashionable, and in recent vyears
numerous houses in the neighborhood have been refurbished., Although the factories in
the district and environs are gone, the well-preserved residences built for their
gwners and operators and others whose fortunes were intertwined with Henderson’
industrial successes today continue to serve as tangible reminders of an important
period in the city’'s history.

i
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[FLEASE NOTE: #11 photographs for this nomination were printed in the summer of
1788, before this noaination was completed and the regulation that all MNational
Register photographs must have a one-half-inch border went into effect. Cost con-
straints render reprinting of these photographs in order to comply with the current
regulation prohibitive. Each photagraph presents the entire image on the respective
negative.l

The following information applies to all of the photographs, which are keyed to the
sketch map:

1} North Msin Htreet Historic District
2} Henderson, Kentuchy

3y €. R, Brouwn

4} May 1988

5) Kentucky Heritage Council, Frankfort, EY

A. 1} Bmith-kKatteriohn House, 503 N. Main St. {entry 14}
&) to the north

B, 1) 521 M. Main B5t, (left) and Blackwell House, 528 N. Main 5t. (entries 18 & 19)
41  to the north

C. 1) 409 N, Main 5t. (entry 23)
&1 to the northwest

D. 1) Hewcomb House, 707 N, Main 85t. (entry 29}
&) to the north

E. 1) Eisfelder-Mcllellan House, 733 N. Main 5t. {(entry 32}
&) to the northwest

F. 1} Horsham House, 737 N. Main Bt. {entry 33)
&) to the west

G. §) William Svaper House, &12 N. Main 5t. f{entry 1}
4} to the southeast

Ho 1} Talbott-5tites-Royster House (right), 626 N. Main Bt. and Nunn-McClain-Clay
House, 638 N, Main Bt. {(entries 3 & 4)
&) to the northeast

1. 1} East s=ide 700 block N. Main S5t. ({(Btephan House, 706 N. Main, entry & in
foreground}
&) to the northeast

J. 1} Reutlinger House, 728 N. Main St. {entry 11}
&) to the southeast




